THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

CASE NO. 2018-000151

RECEIVED

AUG 06 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Steven Lee Morgan, #355128

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

W. Scott Palmer, Esq.
SC Bar No. 11936
W. Scott Palmer Law Firm, P.A.
Post Office Box 722
Santee, South Carolina 29142
(803) 854-4417 Telephone
(803) 602-6820 Facsimile
wpalmer@santeeattorney.com
Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner

Lindsey A. McCallister
SC Bar No. 79054
Assistant Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3970 Telephone

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Post-Conviction Relief Court err in holding that Petitioner's trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to properly handle the issue of third-party DNA by failing to perform a reasonable investigation and by failing to retain an independent DNA expert?
2. Did the Post-Conviction Relief Court err in holding that Petitioner's trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to object to expert opinion testimony of a SLED analyst who did not personally perform the DNA analysis and in failing to renew his request for a *Williams* charge at the close of trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April 2012, Petitioner Steven Lee Morgan (“Petitioner”) was indicted for one count of attempted murder (App. p. 573), one count of burglary, first degree (App. p. 580), one count of kidnapping (App. p. 587), one count of criminal sexual conduct, first degree (App. p. 594) and one count of possession of a firearm or knife during the commission of a violent crime. (App. p. 600). On April 23, 2013, he proceeded to trial in front of Judge R. Markley Dennis. Petitioner was found guilty as indicted on all charges, and Judge Dennis sentenced him to forty years for the first degree burglary, and thirty years each for the first degree criminal sexual conduct, kidnapping, and attempted murder. (App. p. 459; pp. 460-61). The sentences were ordered to be served concurrently. (App. p. 460). Petitioner was also sentenced to five years for the count of possession of a knife during the commission of a crime, this sentence to be served consecutively to the rest. (App. p. 460-61).

The Petitioner served and filed a timely Notice of Appeal. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the Petitioner’s convictions and sentencing on October 21, 2015, finding that the trial court failed to preserve the issues for review. (App. pp. 664-665). *State v. Morgan*, Op. No. 2015-UP-492 (filed October 21, 2015).

On December 4, 2015, Petitioner filed and served an Application For Post-Conviction relief, by which he sought a vacation of his convictions and sentencing, and a new trial. (App. p. 463). In his Application, Petitioner alleged that his court-appointed trial counsel was ineffective for 1) failing to retain an independent DNA expert for the defense of the case; 2) failing to object to expert opinion testimony of a SLED analyst who did not personally perform the DNA analysis; and 3) refusing to allow Petitioner to testify at trial, against Petitioner’s wishes. On June 19, 2016, the Respondent, the State of South Carolina (“Respondent”) made its return (App.

p. 470) and an evidentiary hearing was held in the Berkeley County Courthouse on July 31, 2017. (App. p. 476). The Petitioner was represented by his attorney, Rodney Davis. The Respondent was represented by Lindsey McCallister of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. The Petitioner and Chad Shelton, Petitioner's trial counsel, testified at the hearing. On December 18, 2017, the Honorable Michael G. Nettles issued an Order of Dismissal denying the Petitioner relief. (App. p. 548).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The convictions were based upon a sequence of events that were found to have transpired on January 29, 2012. The victim, Rose Lampkin, and the Petitioner had been in a romantic relationship for several years prior to that date during which time Petitioner lived with Ms. Lampkin. (App. p. 111). In December of 2011, that relationship ended, and the victim moved Petitioner's belongings from her home. (App. p. 114). According to the victim's testimony at trial, on the night of the incident, Petitioner broke into the victim's home by shattering a sliding glass door. (App. p. 115). Armed with a knife, he then chased her upstairs, threw her to the bed, and raped her both anally and vaginally. (App. pp. 116-17; p. 122; p. 165; p. 222). The victim testified that once he was finished sexually assaulting her, he sat in the bed and smoked a cigarette. (App. p. 117). When she tried to escape, he pushed her down a flight of stairs, beat her, and cut her neck with the knife. (App. p. 118). The victim testified that Petitioner then forced her back upstairs, where he sexually assaulted her again, and bound and gagged her with coat hanger wire and a towel torn into strips. (App. pp. 118-19; p. 133; pp. 120-21). After the Petitioner eventually left the home, the victim was able to free herself from the wire binding and alert a passing neighbor. (App. pp. 123-24). Law enforcement was called and arrived to assist victim and investigate the scene. (App. pp. 193-94).

The crime scene investigation produced a number of DNA samples collected from the victim's body, the coat hanger wire, the towel used to gag the victim, a blood-stained green jacket, a stained sheet from the victim's bed, and cigarette butts found on the floor next to the bed. (App. pp. 272-73; pp. 274-77; p. 284; pp. 288-89). Additional DNA samples were obtained from the sexual assault examination of the victim. (App. pp. 222-23; p. 227).

Petitioner was apprehended and arrested in Augusta, Georgia, the following day while in possession of the victim's truck. (App. p. 136; pp. 41; p. 246; p. 253). No evidence was found in the initial search of the truck; however, Victor Mazyck, a friend of the victim who later bought the truck, discovered the knife alleged to have been used in the assault, as well as the victim's keys, in the center console of the truck. (App. pp. 136-39; pp. 247-49; pp. 257-59). That evidence was turned over to authorities and the knife was submitted for DNA analysis. (App. p. 249; p. 305).

The evidence gathered from the scene was analyzed by Intellegentics, a DNA testing laboratory. (App. p. 302; pp. 304-05). Dr. Daniel DeMiers analyzed the submitted evidence, including the strips of towel, the green jacket, the pieces of wire, the cigarette butts, and the knife. (App. pp. 304-05; p. 321). Petitioner's DNA was found to be present on the strips of towel, coat hanger wire, cigarette butts, and the green jacket. (App. pp. 314-17; p. 336; pp. 318-21). The knife revealed DNA from three different contributors from which the Petitioner was not excluded. (App. pp. 321-24). The DNA evidence obtained from the victim's body was analyzed by SLED forensic analyst Mary Boehm. (App. pp. 356-58; pp. 373-74). The DNA evidence from the victim was found to have conclusively matched the Petitioner's DNA profile from semen found on a rectal swab collected during the sexual-assault examination. (App. p. 364).

SLED analyst Mary Boehm was not available to testify at trial. (App. p. 14). In her place, the solicitor moved to admit the expert testimony of Amanda Webb, a DNA analyst with SLED who did not perform the analysis but who was a peer reviewer of Boehm's work on the case. (App. p. 14-15; p. 352; p. 354). Counsel had made a motion *in limine* and argued that Webb's testimony would impermissibly allow for the admission of Boehm's opinions without having Boehm present during trial. (App. pp. 15-16) The trial judge ruled Webb's expert testimony would be admissible if she were properly qualified and indicated that he would make a determination as to admissibility immediately before the testimony was presented to the jury. (App. pp. 16-18).

Following the court's ruling, trial counsel requested several proposed jury instructions regarding expert testimony admitted under similar circumstances in the United States Supreme Court decision in *Williams v. Illinois*, 567 U.S. 50 (2012). (App. pp. 17-18). After considering the proposed instructions, the trial judge determined those instructions would constitute a comment on the facts and indicated that he intended to charge the standard South Carolina jury instructions on expert testimony. (App. pp. 18-20). The trial judge then proceeded forward with the trial. (App. p. 20; pp. 89-103).

At trial, counsel did not renew his objection to Webb's testimony at the time that testimony was presented to the jury and without objection, Webb opined that the DNA profile taken from the rectal swab matched the Petitioner despite not having personally performed the analysis. (App. p. 352; pp. 355-56; p. 360; pp. 362-64).

Following Webb's testimony, both the State and Petitioner rested, and the trial judge conducted the charge conference. (App. p. 372; pp. 383-89). During the charge conference, trial counsel failed to renew his request for any jury instructions based on the suggested instructions

from the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Williams*. (App. pp. 383-89). The parties made their closing arguments to the jury, and the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law. (App. pp. 390-445). At the conclusion of the jury charge, the trial judge asked the parties if there were any exceptions to his instructions or any additional instructions desired, and trial counsel directly responded: "No, sir." (App. p. 445).

ARGUMENT

In order to prove trial counsel was ineffective, "the PCR applicant must prove (1) counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and (2) the applicant sustained prejudice as a result of counsel's deficient performance." *Thompson v. State*, ___ S.C. ___, 814 S.E.2d 487, 489 (2018) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117-18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989)).

To satisfy the deficiency prong, "the proper measure of counsel's performance is whether he has provided representation within the range of competence required by attorneys in criminal cases." *Rutland v. State*, 415 S.C. 570, 577, 785 S.E.2d 350, 353 (2016) (citations omitted).

To satisfy the prejudice prong, an applicant must demonstrate "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different." *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 188, 810 S.E.2d 836, 843 (2018) (citing *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d at 693)). "As the Supreme Court of the United States explained in *Strickland*, 'the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt.'" *Smalls*, 422 S.C. at 188, 810 S.E.2d at 843 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695, 104 S.Ct. at 2068-69, 80 L.Ed.2d at 698). "A reasonable probability is a

probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” *Id.* (citing *Rutland v. State*, 415 S.C. 570, 577, 785 S.E.2d 350, 353 (2016) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068, 80 L.Ed.2d at 698)).

I. Counsel was Ineffective in Failing to Properly Handle the Issue of Third-Party DNA by Failing to Perform a Reasonable Investigation and by Failing to Retain an Independent DNA Expert

Trial counsel testified that he classified the DNA results into three categories: those items from which Petitioner’s DNA was excluded, those that contained a mixture of DNA, and those where Petitioner was a contributor. (App. pp.488-491) He further testified that he focused on the items of evidence that either matched Petitioner or contained a mixture of DNA. (App. pp. 488-491) Counsel did not retain an expert; rather, he testified that his strategy was simply to argue that there was at least a third contributor. (App. pp. 488-491) And other than introducing evidence of the prior relationship between Petitioner and the victim, counsel’s trial strategy did not include presenting any other evidence as to how Petitioner’s DNA would be on any of the items. (App. pp.488-491).

A criminal defense attorney has a duty to perform a reasonable investigation. *Ard* at 331, 642 S.E.2d at 597. “[W]hile the scope of a reasonable investigation depends upon a number of issues, at a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.” *Id.* (internal quotes and citation omitted). Strategic decisions made by trial counsel must be based on a reasonable investigation to qualify as effective assistance. *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 533, 123 S. Ct. 2527, 2541 (2003); *Von Dohlen v. State*, 360 S.C. 598, 607-08, 602 S.E.2d 738, 743 (2004). A Court may not rely on strategic decisions that “resemble[] more a post hoc rationalization of

counsel's conduct" rather than an actual strategy followed by counsel at the time of the trial. *Wiggins*, 539 U.S. at 526-27, 123 S. Ct. at 2538.

Here the evidence clearly establishes that trial counsel's conduct failed to qualify as effective assistance of counsel. Not only did counsel fail to perform a reasonable investigation but counsel performed no independent investigation at all. Despite trial counsel's strategy to focus on DNA evidence that either matched Petitioner or contained a mixture of DNA, no investigation was done into possible third party contributors. Counsel testified that even though Victor Maczyk's name appeared as a contributor in one of the mixtures, no further investigation was done into that contributor. (App. pp. 508-509). Counsel also admitted that the only independent investigation done was into the credibility of the victim. ("We actually did hire an investigator at one point to look into possible credibility issues on the victim's side, just different alternatives.") (App. pp.486-487). Moreover, trial counsel's explanation as to the decision in regards to hiring an expert to look at the DNA results fell far short of a well-defined trial strategy:

Q. Okay. As part of your trial strategy, did you choose to contest that was actually Mr. Morgan's DNA?

A. No.

Q. So part of your trial strategy was to acknowledge that it was, in fact, his DNA?

A. True, yes.

Q. Okay. So if you were – that trial strategy, does that affect your decision in regards to hiring an expert to look at the results?

A. Oh, yeah, that would.

Q. In what way?

A. Well, *there wouldn't necessarily be a reason to hire an expert if that was our strategy.*

(App. pp. 501-502)(emphasis added).

The State's unchallenged DNA evidence, both from the crime scene (Intelligenetics) and the examination of the victim (SLED laboratory) was the cornerstone of the prosecution's case. The failure of Petitioner's trial counsel to take every available opportunity to challenge, refute

and exclude this evidence resulted in the jury having virtually no option but to accept the State's evidence, and the testimony of its experts, without question or doubt. Conducting a reasonable investigation and retaining an independent DNA expert for the defense would have provided expertise and evidence from which there is a reasonable probability that the jury would have found reasonable doubt.

II. Counsel was Ineffective in Failing to Object to Expert Opinion Testimony of a SLED Analyst Who Did Not Personally Perform the DNA Analysis and in Failing to Renew His Request for a *Williams* Charge at the Close of Trial

The Post-Conviction Relief ("PCR") Court found that, although "it was error for trial counsel to fail to renew his objection to the SLED analyst's testimony at the time that testimony was presented to the jury," thereby satisfying the first prong of *Strickland*, Petitioner "failed to prove that he was prejudiced by such error because there is independent, overwhelming evidence of [Petitioner's] guilt such that it is not reasonably likely the result of the trial would have been different even if the SLED agent's testimony had been excluded." (App. p. 563).

However, "the existence of 'overwhelming evidence' does not automatically preclude a finding of prejudice." *Smalls*, 422 S.C. at 189, 810 S.E.2d at 844. Rather, "in determining whether the applicant has proven prejudice, the PCR Court should consider the specific impact counsel's error had on the outcome of the trial." *Id.* (See *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695-96, 104 S.Ct. at 2069, 80 L.Ed.2d at 698-99 (explaining that the court must analyze how individual errors of counsel affect the important factual findings in a particular case)). In addition, the PCR Court "should consider the strength of the State's case in light of all the evidence presented to the jury." *Id.* at 188, 810 S.E.2d at 843 (See generally *Jones v. State*, 332 S.C. 329, 333, 504 S.E.2d 822, 824 (1998) ("In deciding whether Jones was prejudiced, we must bear in mind the strength

of the government’s case ...,” and “we must consider the totality of the evidence before the jury.”)).

Although the PCR Court found that overwhelming evidence precluded a finding of prejudice, it did not make specific findings of whether the trial counsel’s error prejudiced Petitioner. *Smalls* at 195, 810 S.E.2d at 847; *See* Rule 52(a), SCRCF (“In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury ..., the court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon....”); *Hall v. Catoe*, 360 S.C. 353, 364-65, 601 S.E.2d 335, 341 (2004) (repeating our previous directive that PCR courts comply with Rule 52(a) (quoting *Pruitt v. State*, 310 S.C. 254, 256, 423 S.E.2d 127, 128 (1992))). As such, the PCR Court did not analyze how the errors affected the important findings in the case. Instead, the PCR Court simply relied on the testimony from Intelligenetics and the testimony from the victim in finding that the evidence was overwhelming. (App. p. 491). However, as discussed above, trial counsel was ineffective in his handling of the third party DNA and conducted no reasonable investigation prior to trial. Moreover, had trial counsel’s strategy actually been as stated—to focus on DNA evidence that either matched Petitioner or contained a mixture of DNA—it would have been vital to the defense of the case to exclude the testimony of the SLED expert, thereby eliminating the most conclusive DNA evidence.

Petitioner also was prejudiced by counsel’s failure to preserve the issues on appeal. In his appeal, Petitioner argued that the trial court erred in 1) allowing an analyst who reviewed a non-testifying analyst’s data to offer an expert opinion about DNA results and 2) failing to charge the jury with a limiting instruction about expert testimony. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court, finding that the issues were not preserved at trial. (App. p. 663). In

addition to counsel admitting that it was a mistake that he did not object to the SLED expert, counsel also admitted that he should have objected to the charge that the judge actually gave:

Q. And did you see any reason to object to the charge that the judge actually gave?