STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

CERTIORARI TO BERKLEY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-000151

Steven Lee Morgan, #355128,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

LINDSEY A. MCCALLISTER  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar #79054

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

DEC 05 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

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

Subsequently, the evidence collected from Victim's residence was transported to Intelligenetics, a DNA testing laboratory. App. pp. 302, 304-05. Dr. Daniel DeMiers, an expert in forensic science and DNA analysis, analyzed the submitted evidence, including the strips of towel, the green jacket, the pieces of wire, the cigarette butts, and the knife. App. pp. 304-05, 321. Based on this analysis, Dr. DeMiers determined Petitioner's DNA was present on the green jacket in a concentration too significant to have resulted from casual contact, and Petitioner's DNA and semen were present on the torn strips of towel. App. pp. 314-17, 336. Additionally,

---

<sup>5</sup> The keys found in the truck were readily identifiable as belonging to Victim because the key ring had a leather band with Victim's first name on it attached to it. App. p. 249.

Dr. DeMiers located Petitioner's DNA on pieces of wire and cigarette butts collected from Victim's bedroom and the hallway. App. pp. 318-21. Dr. DeMiers also concluded the DNA of three different contributors was present on the handle of the knife, and he could not exclude either Victim or Petitioner as contributors of that DNA. App. pp. 321-24.

Similarly, the evidence collected during Victim's sexual-assault examination at the hospital was transported to SLED, where it was analyzed by Mary Boehm, a forensic DNA analyst. App. pp. 356-58, 373-74. As part of her analysis, Boehm developed DNA profiles from the samples collected during the sexual-assault examination and compared them to profiles developed from the known DNA of Petitioner and Victim. App. pp. 360-63. Based upon that analysis, it was determined Petitioner's DNA profile conclusively matched the profile developed from semen found on a rectal swab collected during the sexual-assault examination of Victim. App. p. 364.

Boehmn was unavailable to testify at trial. App. p. 14. The solicitor moved instead to admit the expert testimony of Amanda Webb, a DNA analyst at SLED and a peer reviewer of Boehm's work on the case, in regard to Webb's opinion about the evidence originally analyzed by Boehm. App. pp. 14-15, 352, 354. Counsel objected, arguing Webb's testimony would impermissibly allow for the admission of Boehm's opinions without having Boehm present during trial. App. pp. 15-16. After considering the arguments of both sides, the trial judge ruled Webb's expert testimony would be admissible if she was properly qualified and instructed he would make a determination as to admissibility immediately before the testimony was presented to the jury. App. pp. 16-18. Following the judge's ruling, Counsel asked the trial judge to consider several proposed jury instructions in regard to expert testimony admitted under similar circumstances in the United States Supreme Court decision in Williams v. Illinois, 567 U.S. 50

(2012).”<sup>6</sup> App. pp. 17-18. After considering the proposed instructions, the trial judge determined those instructions would constitute a comment on the facts and indicated he intended instead to present the standard South Carolina jury instructions on expert testimony. App. pp. 18-20. The trial judge then proceeded with the trial. App. p. 20.

At trial, Victim recounted the details of the incident and identified Petitioner in the courtroom as her assailant. App. pp. 110-57. Likewise, McCurdy, the investigating officers, and the medical personnel who treated Victim after the incident testified concerning Victim’s numerous visible injuries following the attack and sexual assault, her consistent identification of Petitioner as her assailant, and the readily observable evidence of the struggle that had occurred in Victim’s home. App. pp. 188-90, 195-97, 201, 209, 213, 222-23, 227-28, 237, 244-45, 273-87. Further, Dr. DeMiers testified the results of his analysis of the evidence collected from Victim’s home indicated Petitioner’s DNA was discovered on many of the pieces of evidence, and he confirmed Petitioner’s semen and DNA were present on the torn strips of towel recovered from Victim’s home. App. pp. 314-24, 336. Dr. DeMiers also testified the third-party semen found on Victim’s bedsheet was from a male relative of Victim, most likely her son who lived in the house with her. App. pp. 310-12.

Thereafter, Webb, who was qualified as an expert in forensic science and DNA analysis without objection, testified for the prosecution. App. pp. 352, 355. During her testimony, Webb testified every DNA analysis conducted at SLED was reviewed by two other SLED analysts. App. p. 354. She confirmed she conducted a peer review of Boehm’s work in this case. App. p.

---

<sup>6</sup> Specifically, Counsel indicated the Supreme Court’s opinion stated the jury should be instructed “that out-of-court statements cannot be accepted for their truth and that an expert’s opinion is only as good as independent evidence as the underlying premises. And that if the prosecution cannot muster any independent admissible evidence to prove that foundational facts that are essential to the relevance of the expert’s testimony, then the expert’s testimony cannot be given any weight by the triers of the facts.” App. p. 18.

354. Webb indicated she reviewed the case report, the incident report, the sexual-assault nurse examiner's notes, the evidence received by Boehm, and Boehm's notes and scientific data before checking the analyst's work for accuracy and scientific validity. App. p. 356. Based on that review, Webb opined – without objection – semen was present on both the vaginal and rectal swabs taken from Victim, no male DNA profile could be developed from the vaginal swab, and the DNA profile developed from the rectal swab matched Petitioner. App. pp. 360, 362-64. Furthermore, during cross-examination, Webb readily acknowledged she was not present when the original laboratory work was performed, and her opinions and conclusions were based on work performed by Boehm. App. p. 364. Webb also acknowledged her opinions were premised on her assumption Boehm conducted her analysis correctly. App. p. 365.

Following Webb's testimony, both the State and Petitioner rested, and the trial judge conducted a charge conference to ascertain what jury instructions the parties desired to be presented to the jury. App. pp. 372, 383-89. During the charge conference, neither the solicitor nor Counsel requested any jury instructions based on the suggested instructions from the United States' Supreme Court's decision in Williams. App. pp. 383-89. Thereafter, the solicitor and Counsel made their closing arguments to the jury, and the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law. App. pp. 390-445. At the conclusion of the jury charge, the trial judge asked the parties if there were any exceptions to his instructions or any additional instructions desired, and Counsel directly responded: "No, sir." App. p. 445.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). On appellate review, courts defer to a post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is any evidence in the record to support them. Id. at 180, 810 S.E.2d at 839. (citing Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016); Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). However, pure questions of law will be reviewed *de novo* without deference to the lower court. Id. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40. Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP; Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813. The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. "There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case." Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, Petitioner must prove counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id., 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668.

## ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR court correctly found Counsel was not ineffective in his handling of third-party DNA evidence where the State's expert witness was employed by an independent lab, Counsel thoroughly cross-examined him at trial, and Petitioner did not present any independent expert witness testimony at the PCR hearing.**

At trial, one of the State's scientific experts, Dr. DeMiers, testified regarding the presence of third-party DNA found on some of the items collected from the crime scene – most importantly, the knife and Victim's bed sheets. App. pp. 323-25, 310-12. Dr. DeMiers did not work for SLED, but instead was employed by an independent laboratory called Intelligenetics. App. p. 302. He testified the third-party semen found on Victim's bedsheet was from a male relative of Victim, most likely her son who lived in the house with her, and DNA on the knife was mixture of several people from which Petitioner could not be ruled out. App. pp. 310-12, 321-24.

“[C]riminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.” Walker v. State, 397 S.C. 226, 235, 723 S.E.2d 610, 615 (Ct. App. 2012), overruled on other grounds by Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 756 S.E.2d 744 (2014). However, failure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to result. Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 385-86, 629 S.E.2d 353, 357 (2006) (citing Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 334, 496 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1998)). In order to prevail on a claim of ineffectiveness based on counsel's failure to call a favorable witness, this Court has repeatedly held a PCR applicant *must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence* at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice from the witness' failure to testify at trial. Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 303, 509

S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998) (emphasis added). Petitioner's speculation the witness' testimony would have been favorable cannot, by itself, satisfy his burden of showing prejudice. Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 396, 498-99, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995).

Additionally, “[c]ourts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel.” Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992) (citing Goodson v. United States, 564 F.2d 1071 (4th Cir. 1977)). Further, a defense counsel’s failure to procure expert witnesses does not render his or her representation deficient when counsel vigorously cross-examines the State’s witnesses and attacks the accuracy of the evidence. Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 531, 657 S.E.2d 771, 777 (2008). See also Frasier v. State, 306 S.C. 158, 160-61, 410 S.E.2d 572, 573 (1991) (finding trial counsel was not deficient in failing to procure expert witness to challenge DNA evidence where trial counsel vigorously cross-examined State’s DNA experts and attacked accuracy of evidence).

Here, Counsel testified he did not see the need to hire a DNA expert, and he chose to rely on the Intelligenetics results. App. pp. 502. Counsel testified Petitioner’s defense – that the sexual encounter was consensual – did not require him to contest the DNA results, and he could explain the presence of Petitioner’s DNA on items found at the crime scene because Petitioner had lived in the house and been in a relationship with Victim. App. p. 504. Counsel also vigorously cross-examined Dr. DeMiers on his conclusions at trial. App. pp. 326-49. Further, Petitioner did not retain an independent DNA expert as he claims Counsel should have done, and he did not present any testimony or evidence at the PCR hearing challenging Dr. DeMiers’ analysis and conclusions. App. pp. 476-539.

Accordingly, the PCR court correctly found Counsel was not deficient as his defense strategy included choosing not to contest the DNA results. Even if Counsel's decision not to retain an expert was deficient, Petitioner has not met his burden of proving he was prejudiced, so certiorari as to this issue should be denied.

**II. The PCR court correctly find Counsel was not ineffective in failing to object to expert opinion testimony of a SLED DNA analyst who did not personally perform the DNA analysis of Victim's rape kit, or to renew his request for a Williams<sup>7</sup> charge, even though the failure to object to the testimony was deficient, where Petitioner failed to prove prejudice since Petitioner never denied having sex with Victim on the night of the incident, and there was other overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt.**

The evidence collected during Victim's sexual-assault examination at the hospital was transported to SLED, where it was analyzed by Mary Boehm (Boehm), a forensic DNA analyst. App. pp. 356-58; pp. 373-74. As part of her analysis, Boehm developed DNA profiles from the samples collected during the sexual-assault examination and compared them to profiles developed from the known DNA of Petitioner and Victim. App. pp. 360-63. Based upon that analysis, it was determined Petitioner's DNA profile conclusively matched the profile developed from semen found on a rectal swab collected during the sexual-assault examination of Victim. App. p. 364.

However, Boehm was unavailable to testify by the time of trial. App. p. 14. The solicitor moved instead to admit the expert testimony of Amanda Webb (Webb), a DNA analyst at SLED and a peer reviewer of Boehm's work on the case, in regard to Webb's opinion about the evidence originally analyzed by Boehm. App. pp. 14-15, 352, 354. Counsel objected, arguing Webb's testimony would impermissibly allow for the admission of Boehm's opinions without having Boehm present during trial. App. pp. 15-16. Nonetheless, the trial judge ruled

---

<sup>7</sup> Williams v. Illinois, 567 U.S. 50 (2012).

Webb's expert testimony would be admissible if she was properly qualified and instructed he would make a determination as to admissibility immediately before the testimony was presented to the jury. App. pp. 16-18.

Counsel then asked the judge to consider several proposed jury instructions in regard to expert testimony admitted under similar circumstances in the United States' Supreme Court decision in Williams v. Illinois, 567 U.S. 50 (2012). App. pp. 17-18. Counsel argued the jury should be instructed "that out-of-court statements cannot be accepted for their truth and that an expert's opinion is only as good as independent evidence as the underlying premises. And that if the prosecution cannot muster any independent admissible evidence to prove that foundational facts that are essential to the relevance of the expert's testimony, then the expert's testimony cannot be given any weight by the triers of the facts." App. p. 18. After considering the proposed instructions, the judge determined those instructions would constitute a comment on the facts, and he would instead give the standard South Carolina jury instructions on expert testimony. App. pp. 18-20.

Webb was qualified as an expert in forensic science and DNA analysis without objection and testified for the prosecution. App. pp. 352, 355. Webb indicated she reviewed the case report, the incident report, the sexual-assault nurse examiner's notes, the evidence received by Boehm, and Boehm's notes and scientific data, but did not independently perform any of the DNA analyses. App. pp. 356, 364. Webb opined – without objection – semen was present on both the vaginal and rectal swabs taken from Victim, no male DNA profile could be developed from the vaginal swab, and the DNA profile developed from the rectal swab matched Petitioner. App. pp. 360, 362-64. However, during the charge conference and after the jury instructions

were given, Counsel did not object to the judge's failure to include a Williams instruction. App. pp. 383-88, 414-45.

While it was error for Counsel to fail to renew his objection to Webb's testimony at the time it was presented to the jury, the PCR court nonetheless correctly denied relief because Petitioner failed to prove he was prejudiced by the error. See State v. McCray, 413 S.C. 76, 91-92, 773 S.E.2d 914, 922 (Ct. App. 2015) (allowing expert witness who had not performed DNA analysis to testify was harmless error where defendant never denied shooting victim). Even if Counsel had objected and preserved the issue for appellate review, the judge's decision to allow the testimony was harmless error because the fact that it was Petitioner's DNA was not disputed. Counsel testified it was part of his trial strategy not to contest the DNA findings since Petitioner never denied he had a sexual encounter with Victim that night. App. pp. 501-02. Therefore, Webb's testimony confirming Petitioner's DNA was found on swabs from the rape kit was not inconsistent with his defense.

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